THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 04 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Opinion No. 2017-UP-296 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 19, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2017-002133

Rivergate Homeowners' Association, Petitioner,

v.

WW & LB Development Company, LLC, et al., Defendants,

Of Whom

Speedee Concrete, Inc., AB Consulting Engineers, Inc.,
and Chuck's Construction, Inc., are the Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Stacy L. Stanley # 13410
V. Denise Hamilton # 8854
STANLEY LAW FIRM LLC
3303 Highway 9 East
Little River, SC 29566
(843) 390-9111
(843) 390-9187 (facsimile)

Blake A. Hewitt # 73674

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Can equitable tolling extend the limitations period for filing a design and construction defects case against design professionals and contractors during the period of time the developer hiring those entities controls the development's homeowners' association?
- II. Did the lower courts incorrectly interpret this development's master deed as giving individual owners the responsibility of repairing their respective units' driveways and as depriving the homeowners' association of standing to sue over defective driveways?

INTRODUCTION

The lead issue in this case involves the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Magnolia North Property Owners' Association v. Heritage Communities*, 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2012). *Magnolia North* held the statute of limitations in a construction defect case would be equitably tolled against a developer as long as the developer controls the development's homeowners' association.

This case asks whether tolling can apply to claims against engineers and contractors. The answer should be "yes." Tolling should apply until the homeowners get control.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rivergate is a residential community in Little River consisting of multiple duplex and quadplex buildings. The project was developed from 2001 to 2005. (App.p.10).

In January of 2007, a Rivergate homeowner named Robert Sanger sued Rivergate's developer, the Rivergate Homeowners' Association, the HOA's board of directors, and multiple contractors. (App.p.101). The suit alleged various defects including the improper construction of driveways, roads, and the subdivision's stormwater management system. (App.p.107, ¶47).

The case was styled as a class action, see (App.p.102, ¶1), but a class was never certified. The claims against the developer-controlled HOA were negligence and breach of contract for allegedly failing to responsibly manage the community. (App.pp.114, 116).

The developer gave control of the HOA to Rivergate's homeowners in October of 2007. (App.pp.1085-1086). A motion sought an order compelling this transfer. *Id.*

A second lawsuit—*this* lawsuit—was filed in June of 2008. (App.p.146). The HOA appears in the caption as the plaintiff and also as a defendant. *Id.* This case was joined with the Sanger case under a single case number in March of 2009. (App.pp.1-3).

Respondents are an engineering firm (AB Consulting Engineers), a concrete firm (Speedee Concrete), and a construction firm (Chuck's Construction). They were named as defendants in the second amended complaint filed April 28, 2010. (App.pp.193-194). All were sued for negligence, breach of warranty, and unfair trade practices. (App.pp.200-206).

Each Respondent moved for summary judgment in 2013 based on the statute of limitations. (App.pp.49-59).

Respondents' timeliness defense relied on the fact that problems with Rivergate's driveways, roads, and stormwater management system had been longstanding and well-known. A volunteer owners committee noted substantial problems with flooding in 2006. (App.p.1095-1098). Speedy Concrete pointed to evidence it told Rivergate's developer about problems with Rivergate's driveways in 2003 or 2004. (App.pp.277-278). A suit over defects discovered in 2003, 2004, and 2006 would ordinarily be untimely as to defendants who were not sued until 2010. Actions for breach of contract and for damage to real property have a three year statute of limitations. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2005).

The HOA opposed summary judgment, contending the three-year limitations period should be tolled until October 31, 2007—the date the Rivergate homeowners gained control of the HOA and a meaningful opportunity to sue. (App.p.320, line 23-p.322, line 10). The HOA argued there was evidence Respondents knew or should have known their work was defective and that there was evidence the Rivergate developer had requested this defective work. (App.p.304, lines 23-25; p.309, lines 5-25; p.314, lines 1-24; p.1069, ¶¶6-9). The HOA argued the developer-controlled HOA was not likely to sue contractors who performed deficient work at the developer’s direction—those contractors would likely respond by counter-suing the developer. (App.p.328, lines 3-11). The proof of this was of course in the pudding because *nobody* was sued by the HOA until *after* the developer released the HOA to the homeowners in 2007. The HOA brought suit 2008. Respondents were added in 2010.

The parties made various other arguments respecting summary judgment. Those arguments included an argument by Speedee Concrete that driveways in the Rivergate development are the responsibility of each unit’s owner and that the Rivergate HOA lacks standing to sue for defective driveway construction. (App.p.330, lines 5-10).

The circuit court conducted a hearing in January of 2014. (App.p.238). It issued separate orders granting summary judgment to each Respondent. (App.pp.9-33).

The court held the HOA had notice of potential claims against Chuck’s Construction as early as May of 2005 and that a suit against Chuck’s in 2010 was too late. (App.p.14).

As to Speedy Concrete, the court reasoned individual owners should have known about their improper driveway slopes when they purchased their units and that the HOA lacked standing to sue over defective driveway construction. (App.pp.17-18).

As to AB Engineering, the circuit court held there was “uncontroverted evidence” Rivergate’s developer, the HOA, and the Rivergate homeowners were aware of drainage issues “long before” three years prior to naming AB as a defendant in 2010. (App.p.30).

The HOA filed motions to reconsider and the circuit court denied the motions in brief written orders following a hearing. (App.pp.34-44).

The HOA appealed and raised six issues in briefing. (App.pp.1417-1418). At oral argument, however, the HOA narrowed its focus to two issues, issues II and V.

Issue II was the HOA’s argument that equitable tolling applied because the developer did not relinquish control over the HOA to the Rivergate homeowners until October 31, 2007. (App.pp.1431-1436). Issue V was the HOA’s argument that it had standing to sue over defective driveway construction. (App.pp.1439-1441).

The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished memorandum decision addressing all six of the briefed issues. (App.pp.1402-1405).

The Court of Appeals rejected equitable tolling by string-citing cases for various principles related to tolling. (App.pp.1403-1404, ¶2). It also cited a case for the proposition that a party may not argue a new ground for reversal in a reply brief or at oral argument. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals rejected the HOA’s standing argument with respect to driveways by citing a case explaining the purpose of contract interpretation is to ascertain the parties’ intentions. (App.p.1405, ¶5).

The HOA filed a petition for rehearing focused on the two issues it emphasized at argument. (App.pp.1406-1410). The Court of Appeals denied rehearing in a brief order indicating it did not believe there was a basis for rehearing. (App.p.1411-1412).

ARGUMENT

There are two reasons this Court should reverse the Court of Appeals.

First, applying equitable tolling to the HOA's right to sue design professionals and contractors is a logical extension of *Magnolia North*, which applied tolling against a developer while the developer controls the development's HOA. This extension is especially appropriate when there is evidence the design professionals and contractors knew they were performing faulty work. There is such evidence here.

Second, the Court of Appeals and the circuit court incorrectly construed the Rivergate development's master deed to prohibit the HOA from suing over defective driveway construction. The master deed explains Rivergate's driveways are "limited common elements" as well as "common elements." When properly construed, the deed further explains individual owners are not required to maintain certain limited common elements like driveways, indicating driveways are the HOA's responsibility. But even if individual owners *were* required to maintain their driveways, it would not negate the HOA's right to sue. The driveways are owned by the "common" development. The HOA has standing.

The grant of summary judgment was improper. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals and remand this case for trial.

I. Equitable tolling should extend the limitations period against design professionals and contractors during the period of time the developer controls the development's homeowners' association.

The Court should resolve the first issue in this case by holding that the limitations period for a homeowners' association to sue design professionals and contractors is equitably

tolled during the period of time the homeowners' association is controlled by the developer who hired those entities rather than by the homeowners themselves.

a. Tolling is a flexible doctrine created to protect diligent plaintiffs against harsh results.

Equitable tolling is about relieving “the harsh results that sometimes flow” from a strict and literal application of time limits. *Hooper v. Ebenezer*, 386 S.C. 108, 116, 687 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2009). The doctrine is judicially created. *Id.* at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32. It is to be applied rarely and only in extraordinary circumstances. *Id.* at 117, 687 at 33.

In *Hooper*, this Court described three categories of circumstances warranting tolling: cases where the plaintiff filed a timely but defective pleading, cases where extraordinary circumstances outside the plaintiff's control made it impossible for the plaintiff to file a timely claim, and cases where the plaintiff could not have discovered essential information bearing on the claim. *Id.* at 116-117, 687 S.E.2d at 32-33. The Court explained this list was not exclusive because a court's equitable power “is not bound by cast-iron rules[.]” *Id.*

In *Magnolia North*, the Court of Appeals upheld tolling's application to a construction defect lawsuit against a real estate developer while the developer controlled the development's HOA. 397 S.C. at 371-372, 725 S.E.2d at 125. The court drew its explanation of tolling from *Hooper* and “found unpersuasive” the developer's contention that the HOA would sue the developer while the developer controlled the HOA's board. *Id.* The court noted the lawsuit was filed eight months after the homeowners gained control of the HOA, indicating due diligence. *Id.* The decision rests on the premise that the HOA does not have a realistic opportunity to sue the developer until the developer relinquishes control.

b. Applying tolling to an HOA's right to sue design professionals and contractors is a logical extension of *Magnolia North*.

Recognizing tolling's potential application to contractors and design professionals is the logical extension of *Magnolia North*. The developer's interest is a short term interest in selling units and finishing construction. It is difficult to imagine buyers would find a development attractive if the development is involved in litigation over construction defects.

An opinion from Florida's intermediate appellate court puts the point well. That opinion explains developers were traditionally the only ones that could sue for defective design and construction but "[e]xperience taught that the developer's interest—in building, selling, and getting out—was not always the same as the longer-term interests of those who bought individual units[.]" *Seawatch At Marathon Condo. Ass'n v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc.*, 610 So. 2d 470, 473 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1992).

This record proves the truth of that statement. The first meeting of homeowners to discuss problems in Rivergate was in May of 2005. (App.p.468). People were talking about a lawsuit by at least November of 2006, see (App.pp.749-752), but they knew "we are not an HOA yet." (App.p.750). The head of an ad hoc homeowners' committee said he knew the group needed to hire an engineer and an attorney but he explained there was no HOA "board" to allocate money for these tasks because development was controlled by the developer. (App.p.534, lines 7-21). Homeowners wanted action but they could not get it.

The case for tolling's potential application is even stronger on this record. There is evidence these entities did faulty work at the developer's request and direction. For example, deposition testimony indicated Speedy Concrete followed *the developer's instruction* to

deviate from the appropriate way to construct driveways. (App.p.531, line 12 - p.532, line 25). The developer's design was "a cheaper way to do it." *Id.* An engineer retained by the HOA opined all of the defendants were aware of the development's deficiencies or should have been aware of them. (App.p.1063, ¶8). This engineer's report specifically catalogued instances where AB Consulting Engineers observed deviations from its own deficient design but nevertheless (and inexplicably) certified the project as complete. (App.p.1069, ¶¶6-9).

For the same self-centered reason no developer would vote to sue itself, a developer will not vote to sue contractors and design professionals that did deficient work at the developer's instruction and direction. Those entities would likely respond by countersuing the developer. The developer's natural instinct will be to protect itself from liability, and even the most scrupulous developer will likely be hesitant to initiate litigation because of the delay it would certainly cause in sales. Combine that natural resistance with an unscrupulous developer whose goal was to pocket as much money as it could by requesting shoddy work, and the result is that the developer-controlled HOA does exactly what it did here, which is stall and delay.

c. There is no good reason *not* to apply tolling here.

In rejecting tolling's potential application the Court of Appeals emphasized certain language from *Hooper*—that tolling applies when "deny[ing] it would permit one party to suffer a gross wrong *at the hands of the other*." (App.pp.1403-1404) (emphasis in original). This suggests the court may have based its decision to foreclose the possibility of tolling's application on the belief that tolling requires wrongdoing by the defendant and that there was no evidence Respondents engaged in any wrongdoing.

That belief is mistaken. One of the things differentiating tolling from estoppel is that tolling does not require wrongdoing by the defendant. *Magnolia North*, 397 S.C. at 372, 725 S.E.2d at 125. Even so, there *is* evidence of wrongdoing here as there is some evidence each Respondent knowingly did deficient work but allowed that work to be passed off as fit for its intended use. (App.p.531, line 12 - p.532, line 25; p.1063, ¶8; p.1069, ¶¶6-9).

The Court of Appeals also included language suggesting this argument was raised for the first time at oral argument and not properly presented. (App.p.1404). The relevant section of the HOA's brief to the Court of Appeals runs from pages 1431 to 1436 of the Appendix. The brief contains an extensive quote from *Magnolia North*, argues the developer was not likely to sue Respondents, and explains that the Rivergate homeowners knew they needed control of the HOA because they knew the HOA was the appropriate entity to bring suit. The HOA made the same argument below, explaining developer-controlled HOAs are not likely to file lawsuits in these circumstances because "they know what will happen, there will be crossclaims and other things." (App.p.328, lines 3-11).

The Rivergate homeowners' experience is the result of the development's structure. Rivergate is a Horizontal Property Regime—a condominium complex, (App.p.1104)—and the Horizontal Property Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§27-31-10 to -440) does not contain a directive about transferring control of a regime's governing board from the developer to the individual owners. Owners have been forced to file suit to gain control. *Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 179, 708 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 2011) (the first cause of action was to give control of the homeowners' association to the resident owners). That is what happened here. The gap in the law creates the situation where a

developer can retain control over the governing board long enough to bar potential causes of action the unit owners might otherwise have been able and willing to pursue. Until the HOA is turned over, the homeowners' rights are held hostage to someone else's control.

One distinction between Florida and South Carolina—the Court will recall this brief's earlier use of a Florida case—is that Florida has codified the rule the HOA would have the Court apply, tolling all deadlines until the unit owners in a cooperative association elect a majority of the governing board's members. Fla. Stat. Ann. § 718.124. South Carolina does not have such a statute, but the argument here is based on the Court's equitable power, which “is not bound by cast-iron rules[.]” *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 116-117, 687 S.E.2d at 32-33. Florida's statute reflects the wisdom of that state's experience. The fact that the statute exists supports the HOA's argument that a developer is not an equal proxy for the homeowners.

The Rivergate HOA was turned over to the Rivergate property owners in October of 2007. By April of 2010—less than three years later—the homeowner-controlled HOA had hired a forensic engineer and sued numerous contractors, including Respondents. Tolling is an issue for the court because it is an equitable issue. *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 458, 578 S.E.2d 711, 715 (2003). The circuit court should have conducted a trial and heard all of the evidence before making a ruling on tolling's application.

II. The courts below incorrectly interpreted the Rivergate master deed as giving individual home owners the responsibility of repairing their driveways and as depriving the HOA of standing to sue over defective driveways.

Rivergate residents share ownership of everything other than the interior space of their individual units. The master deed defines driveways as “limited common elements.”

(App.p.1107). “Limited common elements” are intended for the exclusive use and benefit of the particular unit with which they are associated, *id.*, but the master deed also includes limited common elements in the deed’s definition of “common elements” and explains that they are to be treated as common elements “except as specifically provided in this Master Deed.” (App.p.1107-1108). These two categories of property are materially different from the only other type of property in Rivergate—the “units”—which are the living space inside the interior walls of each individual condominium. (App.p.1107). Units are conveyed and treated as individual property “capable of independent use and fee simple ownership,” but unit owners share “undivided” ownership interests in the limited common elements and the common elements. (App.p.1108, ¶V).

This scheme follows the general rule with respect to horizontal property regimes. Although limited common elements are intended for one unit’s exclusive use, everyone owns these elements. *Gaffny v. Reid*, 628 A.2d 155, 157 (Me. 1993).

The circuit court believed the HOA lacked standing to sue over defective driveway construction because it construed the master deed as requiring individual homeowners to maintain their respective driveways. (App.p.17-18). This was wrong for two reasons.

First, it was wrong because the master deed does not require individual homeowners to maintain all limited common elements. The deed has limiting language explaining individual homeowners are only responsible for maintaining limited common elements when the failure to maintain those elements would “affect the development as a whole or any part belonging to other units.” (App.p.1116). It is difficult to see how failing to maintain a driveway would affect the development as a whole or any other unit.

Second, it was wrong because a maintenance obligation does not negate standing. Standing relies on a party having a recognized interest in the outcome. An association has standing when its members would have standing to sue in their own right, when the interests at stake are germane to the association's purpose, and when neither the claim nor the relief requires the participation of individual members. *Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass'n*, 407 S.C. 67, 76, 753 S.E.2d 846, 851 (2014). The HOA satisfies this standard, either in its own right (as the governing board for this regime) or in a representative capacity for its members who have shared a shared ownership interest in all of Rivergate's limited common elements.

The idea that driveways in a condominium complex would be treated as common elements is supported by the fact that statutory law puts entrance and exit ways in that category. S.C. Code Ann. § 27-31-20(f)(2) (2007). The terms of an individual regime's master deed can control over the statute, but as Petitioner's counsel argued to the circuit court, this particular regime is set up as a condominium complex. (App.pp.392-395). Precedent discloses instances when similar elements are the managing regime's responsibility. *Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Prop. Regime*, 307 S.C. 339, 342, 415 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1992) (front and back yard). Everything except the space between each condominium's unfinished interior walls is proportionally owned by all of the Rivergate homeowners.