THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN 01 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2017-UP-296 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 19, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2017-002133

Rivergate Homeowners' Association,

Petitioner

v.

WW&LB Development Company, LLC, RWG, Inc.,
Aiello Associates, Daniels Engineering, Inc.,
Rivergate Homeowners' Association, Rivergate
Homeowners' Association Board of Directors,
Wayne Winderman, individually, Salvatrice
Foran, individually, Gerald Foran,
individually, Marcos Soares Construction,
William C. DeSouza, individually, James Eason

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SPEEDEE CONCRETE BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND EQUITABLE TOLLING IS NOT APPLICABLE

a. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-510 and 15-3-530, Appellant's causes of action for negligence, breach of warranty, and breach of contract must be commenced within three years of when the Appellant knew, or should have known

by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a claim against Speedee Concrete may exist. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-510 and 15-3-530.

Speedee Concrete completed its work on the project by March 22, 2007, the date of Speedee's last invoice. (App. p. 1073). The homeowners had knowledge of the driveways' slope and the cracking of driveways in 2004 or 2005 (App. p. 478 - p. 479, App. p. 530 - p. 531). Both are more than three years before Speedee Concrete was named in the Appellant's Second Amended Complaint filed in April, 2010.

"Under the discovery rule, the three-year statute of limitations clock starts ticking on the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller, 392 S.C. 172, 183, 708 S.E.2d 787, 793 (Ct. App. 2011). "It is not necessary for a party to know the full extent of its alleged damages; it is sufficient for the party to be put on notice of such facts as would lead a person of common knowledge and experience to conclude that some claim may exist." Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 340, 355-56, 559 S.E.2d 327, 336 (Ct. App. 2001). "The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury

would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist." Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc., 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981).

In this case, the evidence shows that the Appellant was aware of the slope of the driveways and drainage issues as early as 2004. Homeowner Jim Dunn admitted in his deposition that he heard Speedee Concrete tell Wayne Winderman of WW&LB in 2004 or 2005 that the slope of the driveways was too steep. (App. p. 478 - p. 479, App. p. 532). Furthermore, in May 2005, the homeowners formed an Ad Hoc Committee to address multiple construction issues, including the slope of the driveways. (App. pp. 616-626).

The Appellant argues that its claims against Speedee Concrete did not accrue until Drew Wilkie, Appellant's expert, issued his report on June 18, 2010. That argument is not factually or legally sound. The slope of the individual driveways was immediately known to a purchaser upon arrival to the property. The Appellant, or the individual unit owners, did not need to know the full legal extent of the injury and did not need to hire an expert for the statute of limitations to begin to run. See Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 340, 355-356. The legal standard is that a person of common

knowledge and experience would be put on notice that some claim may exist. Id.

The Appellant (and each unit owner) had knowledge that a claim may exist in 2004 or 2005 when owner representative Jim Dunn heard a Speedee Concrete employee tell Winderman that the driveway slopes were too steep. Also, sometime after July 6, 2005, in connection with a letter of that date, an engineer hired by WW&LB went to the property and looked at the driveways. A Speedee representative was called to the project to meet with the engineer and homeowners. When asked about the slope, the Speedee representative told the engineer that he had warned WW&LB about the steep slope, but Speedee was instructed to continue with construction in the interest of saving money. (App. p. 532). The Appellant and individual owners knew that they had a potential claim against Speedee for more than three years before the Second Amended Complaint was filed; therefore, there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding that issue, and the trial court was proper in granting summary judgment.

b. EQUITABLE TOLLING

Equitable tolling "... is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use." Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Serv. & Rehab Center, 386 S.C. 108, 116, 687 S.E.2d 29 (2009).

Equitable tolling has been deemed available where:

1. Extraordinary circumstances prevented the plaintiff from filing despite his or her diligence.
2. The Plaintiff actively pursued his or her judicial remedies by filing a defective pleading during the statutory period or the claimant has been induced or tricked by the defendant's misconduct into allowing the filing deadline to pass.
3. The Plaintiff, despite all due diligence, is unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his or her claim. Pelzer v. State, 378 S.C. 516, 662 S.E.2d 618 (Ct.App. 2008)

The Appellant cites Magnolia North Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2012) to support its argument that equitable tolling applies. However, that case is distinguishable from this one. In Magnolia North, the Court held that equitable tolling applied to toll the statute of limitations against the developer where the developer controlled the homeowner's association and the developer would not have initiated an action against itself. Id. Furthermore, the homeowners were diligent in filing a lawsuit only eight months after assuming control. Id.

In this case, there was nothing to prevent the Appellant or individual unit owners from timely filing suit. Speedee was never part of the homeowner's association board.

Additionally, the Appellant's members, the unit owners, knew the driveway slopes were too steep, they knew Speedee Concrete constructed the driveways, a representative of the homeowners' ad hoc committee heard Speedee admit to the developer that the driveways were too steep on at least two separate occasions and the Association still waited nearly five years to file suit against Speedee. The individual owners have never filed suit against Speedee. Furthermore, Speedee Concrete did not mislead the Appellant or any unit owners as evidenced by its open admissions. Based on the foregoing, no extraordinary circumstances exist to warrant equitable tolling of the statute of limitations against Speedee in this case.

The Appellant further argues that Speedee should be equitably estopped from asserting the statute of limitations as a bar to the Appellant's action. For equitable estoppel to apply, the Appellant must show that the delay was induced by Speedee's conduct. See Dillon County School Dist. No. Two v. Lewis Sheet Metal Works, Inc. 286 S.C. 207, 332 S.E.2d 555, 561 (Ct.App. 1985).

There is no evidence that Speedee did anything to cause the Appellant's delay in naming it as a defendant. The Appellant cites a letter from Winderman, the developer, stating that he would address the drainage, road, and

maintenance issues. Speedee Concrete did not make any representations to the Appellant that it would make repairs. When the engineer hired by WW&LB met with Speedee about the slope, the Speedee representative stated that he had expressed concern over the slope and was told to proceed anyway. Furthermore, Winderman is not an agent of Speedee and the acts of Winderman cannot at all be attributed to Speedee. Equitable estoppel is inapplicable as to Speedee Concrete. Speedee did not cause the delay and did not induce the Appellant to believe that Speedee would make repairs.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SPEEDEE CONCRETE BECAUSE THE APPELLANT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO SUE FOR DRIVEWAYS

The Appellant lacks standing to bring a lawsuit against Speedee Concrete for the alleged defects to the driveways because the driveways are defined as limited common elements in the Master Deed (App. pp. 1107-1108) and are thus the responsibility of the individual homeowners, not the homeowner's association (App. pp. 1116-1117). The Appellant even admits that the driveways are limited common elements pursuant to the Master Deed. Therefore, the Appellant does not have standing to bring a lawsuit regarding alleged defects to the driveways. See Roundtree Villas Association, Inc. v. 4701 Kings Corp., 282 S.C. 415, 421, 321 S.E.2d 46 (1984), in which the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a

homeowners association did not have the authority to bring suit for defects to balconies because they were limited common elements.

The Appellant cites Article IV of the Master Deed for the proposition that the limited common elements are to be treated as common elements giving the Appellant standing to bring suit regarding alleged defects with those limited common elements. The referenced section states: "In all other respects, and except as specifically provided in this Master Deed, LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS shall be treated as, and included within the definition of the term 'Common Elements". However, this assertion by the Appellant is misguided in that it ignores the clear and unambiguous language of the clause. The Appellant fails to appreciate the expressed limiting language: "except as specifically provided in this Master Deed..."

Further, any damages created by the slope of the driveways are the responsibility of the owner of the unit to which the driveway is appurtenant. Thus, the Appellant's claims against Speedee Concrete for any damages caused by the slope are misdirected since such damages would be each driveway owner's responsibility. To ignore this conclusion is to torture the plain meaning of the Master Deed. In

support of this assertion, the Master Deed provides in Section XXII:

Every **owner** must perform promptly all maintenance and repair work within his unit and of all limited common elements to which such unit has exclusive use which, if omitted, would affect the condominium in its entirety or any part belonging to other owners, and **shall be expressly responsible for the damages and liability** which his failure to do so may engender (emphasis added).

The Appellant argues that the Court of Appeals, and the trial court, were wrong for determining that the individual owners were required to maintain their limited common areas. The first reason given is that "it is difficult to see how failing to maintain a driveway would affect the development as a whole or any other unit." Appellant's Brief at page 11. However, the Appellant ignores the findings of its expert, Drew Wilkie. Mr. Wilkie testified that the excessive slope of the driveways causes soil piping, resulting in soil erosion at the foot of the driveways. That may in some areas cause heaving of pavement. (App. pp. 847 - 848). According to the Master Deed; if that condition occurs at the foot of an individual unit's driveway, then that owner would be responsible for the damages caused by the slope. Section XXII.

The Appellant's second argument is also without merit. In that argument, the Appellant alleges that it does have

standing because the Association satisfies the legal standing definition set forth in Carnival Corp. v. Historic Ansonborough Neighborhood Ass'n, 407 S.C. 67, 753 S.E.2d 846 (2014). However, the Court held there was a three part test for associational standing. The third prong of that test is that "neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the lawsuit." Id. 753 S.E.2d at 851. Here, since the unit owners control the use and repair of their individual driveways, which was evidenced by the repairs made by individual unit owner Karen Travis when she eliminated her slope issue, the Association fails to establish the third prong. For that reason, as in the cited case, the Association's argument for standing must fail.

The Appellant also posits the theory that because a statute (S. C. Code Ann. § 27-31-20(f)(2)) puts entrance ways and exits in a common element category that this court should do the same. However, the Appellant has overlooked the definition of Limited Common Elements in the same statute and its application in the case at bar. "Limited Common Elements" means and includes those common elements agreed upon by all the co-owners to be reserved for the use of a certain number of apartments to the exclusion of the other apartments..." 20-31-20(g). In this case, the individual driveways service the

individual units. The authors of the Association's Master Deed clearly excluded the driveways from the common elements definition.

Finally, the Association mistakenly assumes the case of Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime, 307 S.C. 339, 415 S.E.2d 384 (1992) supports their position that limited common elements were an association's responsibility. In Janasik, the owners allowed items originating from the limited common elements to move into and encroach upon the common areas. For years, the Janasiks' plants grew in the common areas, wires crossed the common areas and lights illuminated the common areas.

The Association did nothing about the encroachment until two years after the Master Deed violations began. The lower court ruled that the Janasiks had to remove those portions of their limited common elements that encroached onto the common areas. If the Janasiks did not comply, the HOA had the right to come onto the area of common elements overtaken by the items that had originated from the limited common elements so that the Association could retake control of the common elements, at the Janasik's expense. The Supreme Court agreed with the findings of the trial court as it pertained to his handling of the common areas and the limited common elements that encroached thereon. Likewise, this court should

acknowledge the clear language of the Master Deed, find that each homeowner is responsible for his own individual driveway servicing his own individual unit, and affirm that the association has no standing to repair the driveways without the consent of each unit owner. At each stage of this litigation, the Appellant has asked the court to turn its back to the clear language of the Master Deed where it says "except as specifically provided". This court should refuse to do so, and enforce the plain meaning of the Master Deed.

CONCLUSION